NATIONAL VOCATIONAL EDUCATION AND TRAINING RESEARCH PROGRAM

OCCASIONAL PAPER

Understanding the non-completion of apprentices

Alice Bednarz NATIONAL CENTRE FOR VOCATIONAL EDUCATION RESEARCH









Australian Government Department of Industry

Understanding the non-completion of apprentices

Alice Bednarz National Centre for Vocational Education Research

A NATIONAL CENTRE FOR VOCATIONAL EDUCATION RESEARCH

OCCASIONAL PAPER

The views and opinions expressed in this document are those of the author/ project team and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Australian Government, state and territory governments.

Publisher's note

This report has been prepared by the National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER) on behalf of the National Senior Officials Committee and for the Principal Committees of the Council of Australian Governments' (COAG) Industry Skills Council (formerly the Standing Council on Tertiary Education, Skills and Employment).

© Commonwealth of Australia, 2014



With the exception of the Commonwealth Coat of Arms, the Department's logo, any material protected by a trade mark and where otherwise noted all material presented in this document is provided under a Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Australia http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/au licence.

The details of the relevant licence conditions are available on the Creative Commons website (accessible using the links provided) as is the full legal code for the CC BY 3.0 AU licence http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/legalcode.

The Creative Commons licence conditions do not apply to all logos, graphic design, artwork and photographs. Requests and enquiries concerning other reproduction and rights should be directed to the National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER).

This document should be attributed as Bednarz, A 2014, *Understanding the non-completion of apprentices*, NCVER, Adelaide.

 ISBN
 978 1 922056 85 6

 TD/TNC
 115.10

 Published by NCVER, ABN 87 007 967 311

 Level 11, 33 King William Street, Adelaide SA 5000

PO Box 8288 Station Arcade, Adelaide SA 5000, Australia

P +61 8 8230 8400 F +61 8 8212 3436 E ncver@ncver.edu.au W < www.ncver.edu.au>

About the research

Understanding the non-completion of apprentices

Alice Bednarz, National Centre for Vocational Education Research

Approximately half of all apprenticeship contracts in the trades are not completed. In this context, this review draws together existing research on why apprentices do not complete their training. The issue of non-completion is considered from multiple angles, including apprentices' self-reported reasons for non-completion, the impact of employer characteristics, and apprentices' and employers' satisfaction with the training provider. The report is based on findings from surveys undertaken by the National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER) and other national surveys, industry studies and research papers.

Key messages

- Employment-related reasons are the most commonly cited reasons for not completing an apprenticeship. These include experiencing interpersonal difficulties with employers or colleagues, being made redundant, not liking the work and changing career. By contrast, issues with the offthe-job training are the least frequently cited reasons for not completing an apprenticeship.
- There is a large difference in completers' and non-completers' satisfaction with their employment experience overall. The majority of completers (80%) are satisfied with the employment experience overall, compared with just 42% of non-completers. This provides further evidence that the employment experience, rather than the off-the-job-training experience, carries greater weight in whether an apprentice stays or goes.
- There is conflicting evidence on the importance of wages. Most studies find that low wages are not the most common reason for non-completion, but they are nonetheless one of the top few factors. An increase in wages alone is unlikely to solve the problem of low completion rates, since multiple factors are often to blame.
- Apprentices generally leave their apprenticeship contract early on: 60% of those who leave do so within the first year.
- The influence of the employer cannot be overstated. Employers with the highest completion rates are generally larger, experienced employers with well-organised systems for managing and recruiting apprentices. Employers with lower completion rates tend to be smaller and have less experience.

These findings suggest a number of ideas for future policy developments, such as encouraging more rigorous recruitment practices; providing greater support for smaller, less-experienced employers; providing greater mentoring support for apprentices, particularly in the early stages of their apprenticeship; and considering alternative apprenticeship models, specifically those that reduce the pressure on employers.

Rod Camm Managing Director, NCVER

Contents

Tables and figures	6
Introduction	7
Background	8
Completion rates	9
Data issues in measuring and reporting completion rates	11
Why apprentices do not complete	13
Reasons for not completing	13
When do apprentices leave?	16
Do the reasons for not completing change with duration?	17
What happens to those who quit?	17
The impact of wages	18
Fairness and respect	19
Lack of support	19
Characteristics of successful apprentices	19
Satisfaction with apprenticeship: completers versus non-completers	20
Change in young people's expectations	21
Employer influences	23
Employer size and type	23
Other employer characteristics	24
Employer challenges	26
Retention strategies used by 'best practice' employers	27
Cost to the employer	30
Off-the-job training experience	31
Apprentice and employer satisfaction	31
Challenges for trainers	31
Implications	32
The value of completing	33
Is not completing always a bad thing?	33
Monetary rewards	33
Employment prospects	34
Summary	34
Final comments	35
Key findings	35
Future directions for policy and practice	35
References	38
Appendix: Case studies	41
Funding information	43

Tables and figures

Tables

1	Latest completion rates for trade apprentices commencing in 2007	9
2	Contract and individual completion rates, based on a recommencement factor, for trade occupations commencing in 2007	10
3	Individual completion rates, by state, for 2007 commencements	11
4	Main reason for not completing an apprenticeship, 2008 and 2010, trade occupations	13
5	Grouping the reasons for non-completion, 2008	14
6	Top five reasons for stopping an apprenticeship, 2001	15
7	Top five reasons for cancellations identified by discontinued electrotechnology respondents	15
8	Contract attrition rates by occupation and time of cancellation/ withdrawal, for contracts commencing in 2006	16
9	Satisfaction with the apprenticeship for completers and non-completers in a trade occupation, 2008	21
10	Age profile of commencing trade apprentices, 2012	21
11	Estimated completion rates by selected employer characteristics and number of contracts in category	23
12	Commencing apprenticeship contracts by employer type, 2012	24
13	Summary of the characteristics of employers with low, medium and high retention rates	25
Fig	ures	
1	Apprentice commencements, seasonally adjusted and smoothed, December 2002 – December 2012	8
2	Completion rates for trade apprentices over time	10

3 Contract attrition rate by time of cancellation/withdrawal, for contracts commencing in 2006 (trade occupations) 16

Introduction

The aim of this review is to collate the existing research on the reasons why apprentices do not complete their training. The focus is on understanding the non-completion of trade apprentices, as attrition in these areas is generally viewed with particular concern.

An apprenticeship involves a contract between the apprentice and their employer, together with an arrangement with a training provider. Apart from these core players, apprenticeships take place within a wider system that is influenced by government policies and incentives, industry bodies and community attitudes. With this in mind, an examination of why apprentices discontinue their training needs to be approached from several angles.

The first section presents a snapshot of the apprenticeship system and the current rates of completion. Approximately half of all apprenticeship contracts are not completed, with some variation across states and occupations. Several data issues complicate the measurement of completion rates, but even accounting for these, completion rates are low.

The following section presents apprentices' reasons for not completing, as reported by apprentices themselves. These are frequently related to the employment experience and include trouble with the boss or workmates, not liking the work and low pay. Additional common reasons are leaving to pursue other opportunities, such as a better job, and personal reasons, such as illness or transport problems.

Next, the employer's role is examined more closely, as issues with the employment experience are frequently cited by non-completers. The characteristics of employers with high and low completion rates are examined. Employers with the highest completion rates tend to be larger, experienced employers with well-organised systems for managing apprentices. Smaller, less experienced employers tend to have lower completion rates. Given this discrepancy, we pay particular attention to the types of strategies employed by firms with high apprentice completion rates. These include rigorous recruitment processes, formal work plans and mentoring support services.

The training provider and opportunities for improving the training experience are the focus of the next section. The main problems are inflexible delivery options, poor feedback about apprentice progress, and the literacy and numeracy difficulties of apprentices.

The penultimate section considers the value of completing - if completion does not offer sufficient reward, it may explain the low completion rates. Benefits are examined in terms of wage premiums and employment prospects, and whether qualifications are considered necessary to work as a tradesperson. One finding is that the premium attached to becoming a qualified tradesperson is significant, but is not always enough to offset the opportunity cost of undertaking training, particularly for adult apprentices.

Finally, we summarise the main findings and suggest opportunities for future policy developments. Given that apprentices often leave because they do not like the work or it didn't meet their expectations, more effort could be put into the selection process. Further, an employer accreditation process may help to ensure that only those employers with sufficient training capacity are permitted to take on apprentices; careful consideration of employer incentive payments may also help in this regard. There is also scope to consider alternative apprenticeship models, specifically those that reduce the pressure on employers.

Background

Apprenticeships are generally undertaken in the traditional trades and involve an occupational entrylevel qualification at the certificate III/IV level (Commonwealth of Australia 2011). They are generally three to four years in duration. Traineeships, on the other hand, tend to be in service-oriented occupations, including business and retail, and are generally two years in duration. Apprentices and trainees can be either directly employed or employed through a group training organisation (GTO).¹

Throughout the report, the term 'apprentice' will be used to refer to those undertaking trade apprenticeships, while the term 'trainee' will be used to refer to those undertaking a traineeship. Although current terminology groups apprenticeships and traineeships under the umbrella term of 'Australian Apprenticeships',² this report distinguishes between the two, since the reasons for non-completion differ substantially between the two groups. The primary focus is on apprentices.

There were approximately 200 000 apprentices in training as at 31 December 2012 (NCVER 2013a). Apprentices represent about 12% of Australian workers in technical and trade occupations (NCVER 2012c).

Figure 1 shows the trend in apprentice commencements over the last ten years. Commencements have risen by 38% over the past ten years, from 16 300 at the end of 2002, to approximately 22 500 at the end of 2012.





Source: NCVER (2013b).

¹ An apprenticeship is a system of training regulated by law or custom, which combines on-the-job training and work experience while in paid employment with formal (usually off-the-job training). The apprentice enters into a contract of training or training agreement with an employer, which imposes mutual obligations on both parties. Traditionally, apprenticeships were in trade occupations (declared vocations) and were of four years duration, but the duration of contracts has been formally reduced in some trades.

A traineeship is a system of vocational training combining off-the-job training with an approved training provider with on-the-job training and practical work experience. Traineeships generally take one to two years and are now part of the Australian Apprenticeships system (NCVER VET Glossary, accessed January 2013,

<www.ncver.edu.au/resources/glossary>).

² See <www.australianapprenticeships.gov.au>.

Completion rates

Each apprentice has a contract of training with their employer. To determine completion rates, contracts of training are monitored to track how many contracts that were commenced in a given time period are eventually completed. This gives us a 'contract completion rate'.

There is an issue associated with tracking contracts of training: an apprentice might start a contract of training with one employer, but then later switch employers and begin a new contract of training. When only contracts of training are monitored, the original contract may be recorded as incomplete, even if the student goes on to finish their apprenticeship with the new employer. Approximately one-quarter of trade apprentices swap employers during their apprenticeship in this fashion (Karmel 2011). This leads us to consider 'individual completion rates'. These give an estimate of the proportion of apprentices who started in a given year and who eventually completed their training in the same *occupation* in which they began, but not necessarily with the same *employer*.

Ideally, to calculate completion rates, we must wait for all apprentices who started at a given time to either complete or drop out of their training. Only when all contracts are accounted for will we know the true rate. However, a trade apprenticeship is generally four years in duration. To save having to wait for the full four years, an alternative is to track apprentices for a certain time period and then *estimate* the long-term behaviour.

Thus, for contract completion rates, NCVER uses two different methods. One method involves tracking a cohort of contracts for the full four years, with some adjustments made to account for reporting lags (Harvey 2010a). The other method, used to find the *projected* contract completion rates, involves tracking a cohort of contracts for one quarter and extrapolating the behaviour to *predict* the long-term trend (see Karmel & Mlotkowski 2010a for details). For individual completion rates, the contract completion rates are adjusted according to data on the number of apprentices who switch employers during their apprenticeship. See Karmel (2011) for details.

The latest completion rates for trade apprentices are shown in table 1. We can see that approximately half of apprenticeship contracts are not completed.³ The individual completion rate is slightly higher, at 55%.

Completion rate	Completion rate (%)
Contract completion rate	45
Individual completion rate	55

Table 1 Latest completion rates for trade apprentices commencing in 2007

Source: NCVER (2012a).

Completion rates have not changed much over the last few years, as shown in figure 2. Contract completion rates have hovered around the 45% mark and are projected to increase very slightly for the 2009, 2010 and 2011 cohorts of apprentices. Individual completion rates are higher than contract completion rates by about ten percentage points, since they account for employer switching.

³ An issue is that the sum of the contract completion rate and the contract attrition rate is not 100%, due to 'expired' contracts; these are discussed later.





Source: NCVER (2010c, 2012a).

Note: Contract completion rates refer to individuals completing an apprenticeship contract with the employer they commenced with. Individual completion rates refer to individuals completing an apprenticeship contract with the employer they commenced with, or with a different employer in the same occupation.

Projected contract completion rates are projected rates based on a cross-sectional 'life tables' methodology (see Karmel and Mlotkowski 2010a). The projected rates are for contracts beginning in the December quarter of that year.

By occupation

Completion rates vary considerably by occupation, as shown in table 2. For example, individual completion rates range from roughly 40% for food trades workers, through to almost 70% for electrotechnology and telecommunications trades workers. Occupations with the highest adjustment factor, and hence the highest employee 'churn', are hairdressers, food trades workers and construction trades workers.

Table 2	Contract and individual completion rates, based on a recommencement factor, for trade
	occupations commencing in 2007

Occupation (ANZSCO) group	Average annual adjustment factor	Contract completion rate (%)	Individual completion rate (%)
Technicians and trades workers	1.24	45	55
31 Engineering, ICT and science technicians	1.03	59	61
32 Automotive and engineering trades workers1.204958			
33 Construction trades workers1.304457			
34Electrotechnology and telecommunications trades workers1.235568			
35 Food trades workers	1.40	28	39
36 Skilled animal and horticultural workers	1.09	45	49
39 Other technicians and trades workers	1.21	43	52
391 Hairdressers	1.43	39	55
392 Printing trades workers	1.06	58	62
393 Textile, clothing and footwear trades workers	1.11	45	50
394 Wood trades workers	1.21	40	48
399 Miscellaneous technicians and trades workers	1.03	57	59
Total trade occupations	1.24	45	55

Note: ANZSCO = Australian and New Zealand Standard Classification of Occupations. Source: NCVER (2012a).

By jurisdiction

There is also considerable variation between states/territories, as seen in table 3, with individual completion rates varying from about 51% in Victoria to 67% in Tasmania.

State/territory	Total trade occupations ¹	
Tas.	66.7	
WA	62.2	
SA	59.0	
QLD	55.8	
NSW	55.3	
NT	51.6	
ACT	51.3	
Vic.	50.7	
Australia	55.0	

 Table 3
 Individual completion rates, by state, for 2007 commencements

Note: 1 Trade occupations are defined as major occupation group 3 – Technicians and trades workers (ANZSCO 1st edn, revision 1).

Source: NCVER (2012a, supporting data for apprentice and trainee completion rates).

Research by Knight (2008) examined whether apparent differences between states are 'real' or merely artefacts of the reporting practices in the different states. Through consultations with state training authorities, staff at the Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, Australian Apprenticeship Centres and group training associations, Knight found that differences in the level of support provided to apprentices in each state appeared to be the key. For example, the number of field officers who conduct site visits and provide support to apprentices varies substantially among states. Tasmania in particular was found to have a strong culture of support for traditional apprenticeships. As well, Knight suggested that challenging youth labour markets in South Australia and Tasmania may partially explain the above-average completion rates in those states. In other words, if young people's employment options are limited, they may be more inclined to stick with their apprenticeship.

Future research could examine the differences in completion rates between the states/territories in more detail. For example, one area for examination might be whether there is a variation between the states in the proportion of apprentices employed by small and medium enterprises, as this could affect completion rates, given that small businesses (those with fewer than 100 employees) tend to have lower completion rates.

Data issues in measuring and reporting completion rates

There are several issues which complicate the calculation of completion rates, such as time lags and inconsistencies in data-recording practices among the states and territories (Snell & Hart 2007, 2008; Knight 2008; MGET 2010).

In order to officially complete an apprenticeship two conditions must be met. First, the apprentice must complete both the off-the-job and on-the-job training requirements of their contract. Second, evidence of this must be provided to the appropriate state training authority (Ball & John 2005, p.8). Failure to complete the second step can result in 'expired' contracts, which may be either unreported completions or cancellations. Approximately 5% of the contracts in NCVER's database are classified as

'expired', meaning that their outcome is unknown (NCVER 2012a, supporting data). There is also often a time lag involved in this reporting, sometimes up to two years (Harvey 2010a).

A further complication is that many states have some form of trade recognition, which allows people to become trade-qualified outside an apprenticeship arrangement (Walker & Powers 2009b). These pathways are not currently tracked and represent a gap in the official statistics.

Why apprentices do not complete

A great deal of research has been undertaken into the reasons for apprentices not completing their training. The five main reasons that recur throughout apprenticeship attrition research include: employment-related problems, primarily trouble with the boss or colleagues; not liking the work/not being suited to the work; low wages; a lack of support; and personal reasons, including family reasons and problems with transport.

Reasons for not completing

The Apprentice and Trainee Destination Survey (NCVER 2009, 2010a) surveyed apprentices and trainees across Australia approximately nine months after they had left their training. Both completers (those who finished their training) and non-completers (those who cancelled their training contract) were surveyed, across trades and non-trades. Here the focus is only on the responses of those doing a trade. The survey was conducted in 2008 and 2010. In 2008, approximately 600 trade completers and 400 trade non-completers were surveyed, while in 2010, about 1100 trade completers and 1100 trade non-completers were surveyed (NCVER 2009, 2010a).

Table 4 presents the main reasons for not completing an apprenticeship. The two survey years represent a buoyant labour market (2008) and one affected by the Global Financial Crisis (2010).

Main reason	2008	2010
	(n = 429)	(n = 1154)
	(%)	(%)
Did not get on with boss or other people at work	16.2	10.2
Did not like the type of work	10.2	8.3
Other reasons	10.2	1.5*
Personal reasons ¹	10.0	15.7
Left job or changed career	9.4	12.5
Lost job or made redundant	8.9	26.8
The pay was too low	8.7	4.7
Was not happy with the on-the-job training	5.4*	1.9
Not happy with the job prospects in the industry	3.6*	4.2
Got offered a better job	3.3*	2.2
Apprenticeship/traineeship cancelled or discontinued	3.2*	3.8
Poor working conditions	3.1*	3.1
Changed to another apprenticeship/ traineeship	3.1*	1.1*
Left to study elsewhere	1.9*	0.8*
Found the study too difficult	1.4*	1.6
Was not happy with the off-the-job training	1.4*	1.6*
Total	100.0	100.0

Table 4 Main reason for not completing an apprenticeship, 2008 and 2010, trade occupations

Notes: * indicates that the estimate has a relative standard error greater than 25% and therefore should be used with caution. The table is sorted by the main reason in 2008.

1 'Personal reasons' includes the following: family reasons, illness, lack of time, moved, problems with travelling/transport. Source: Apprentice and Trainee Destinations Survey (NCVER 2010, p.10).

Note that low pay does not top the list as the main reason for not completing. Only 9% of trade apprentices in 2008 cited 'low pay' as their main reason for not completing, with this figure dropping

to 5% in 2010. Instead, reasons related to the workplace or the work itself were more common. In 2008, around 16% left because they didn't get on with their boss or colleagues, while a further 10% left because they did not like the type of work.

In 2010, due to the influence of the Global Financial Crisis, approximately one-quarter of trade apprentices left because they had lost their job or had been made redundant. Approximately 16% left because of personal reasons, another 13% left due to a career change, and 10% left because they did not get on with the boss or colleagues. An even smaller proportion than in 2008 left for pay-related reasons.

We can group the reasons for non-completion into a number of themes, based on the approach of Karmel and Mlotkowski (2010c). These are shown in table 5.

Main reason	In a trade occupation
	%
Problems with the employment experience	33.4
Did not get on with boss or other people at work	16.2
Poor working conditions	3.1
The pay was too low	8.7
Was not happy with the on-the-job training	5.4
Didn't like the type of work or industry	16.9
Did not like the type of work	10.2
Not happy with the job prospects in the industry	3.6
Transferred to another apprenticeship/traineeship	3.1
Doing something different/better	14.6
Left job or changed career	9.4
Got offered a better job	3.3
Left to study elsewhere	1.9
Lost job/discontinued	12.1
Lost job or made redundant	8.9
Apprenticeship cancelled or discontinued	3.2
Off-the-job training problems	2.8
Was not happy with the off-the-job training	1.4
Found the study too difficult	1.4
Other reasons	20.2
Personal reasons	10.0
Other reasons	10.2
Total	100.0

Table 5 Grouping the reasons for non-completion, 2008

Note: * indicates that the estimate has a relative standard error greater than 25% and therefore should be used with caution.

Source: NCVER (2009).

It is clear that reasons relating to the employment experience are the most common, being the main factor in 33% of cases. By contrast, only 3% of apprentices left primarily due to issues with off-the-job training. Not liking the industry or the type of work, or leaving to do something different or better were the next most common reasons. Arguably, these reasons are also employment-related, making employment-related reasons a factor in 65% of cases overall. Although personal reasons are the cause of a fairly large proportion of non-completions, these are not considered further, as they cannot easily be influenced by policy.

Another national study, by Cully and Curtain (2001), surveyed approximately 800 non-completers across Australia, including approximately 260 apprentices. Table 6 summarises the top five reasons apprentices gave for terminating their apprenticeship. Again, it can be seen that the reasons for leaving more commonly involve issues with the employer or not liking the industry, rather than anything related to the training.

	-
Main reason	%
	(n = 264)
No longer wanted to work in that job	14
Bad management/boss	13
Dismissed by the employer	10
Made redundant	10
To transfer to another apprenticeship	8

Table 6	Top five reasons for	r stopping ar	apprenticeship,	2001
---------	----------------------	---------------	-----------------	------

Source: Cully & Curtain (2001).

Patterson Market Research (2004) interviewed approximately 380 apprentices in the building industry in Western Australia, both current and discontinued. Approximately 20% of discontinued apprentices said that they had left because the apprenticeship was 'boring', wasn't what they thought it would be, or because they 'just wanted to do something else', while 17% indicated that some form of falling-out with their employer or poor working conditions were to blame. Approximately 14% cited low pay. Again, low pay is not the top reason, but it is one of the top reasons.

Looking within a particular occupation, discontinued electrotechnology apprentices gave the reasons listed in table 7 as their top five reasons for cancelling (Energy Skills Queensland 2009). The high proportion of employer-terminated contracts is likely to be a result of the global economic downturn. Aside from this, low pay, insufficient support in the workplace, another job offer and unmet expectations were equally common as the main reasons for leaving. As with the NCVER surveys, low pay is only cited by around 10% of apprentices as their main reason for leaving. However, it could be argued that 'Received a better job offer — more money' is also related to low pay, making low pay a factor for 21% of respondents overall.

discontinued electrotechnology respondents		
Main reason	%	
	(n = 104)	
Employer terminated	22	
Low pay	11	
Poor access to training and mentoring in the workplace	10	
Received a better job offer – more money	10	
Did not meet my expectations	8	

Table 7	Top five reasons for cancellations identified by
	discontinued electrotechnology respondents

Source: Energy Skills Queensland (2009).

Overall, issues with the employment experience, not liking the work and pursuing other opportunities appear to be the dominant reasons for leaving. The next chapter examines the employer's role more fully.

When do apprentices leave?

Recognising when cancellations occur can help to inform our understanding of why apprentices quit. For example, drop-out rates tend to be higher at the beginning of the contract. Approximately one-third of contracts are cancelled within the first year, and 20% within the first six months, as shown in table 8. Overall, five in ten contracts are cancelled (NCVER 2012a). In real terms, this means that 47 500 contracts commencing in 2006 were cancelled.

Table 8	Contract attrition rates by occupation and time of cancellation/withdrawal, for contracts
	commencing in 2006

Occupation (ANZSCO)	Contract attrition rates (%), ¹ withdrawing within:							
group	Same quarter	1 quarter	2 quarters	1 year	2 years	3 years	More than 3 years	Number of contracts ('000)
Total trade occupations ²	4.0	12.7	19.5	30.4	42.9	48.2	49.7	94.7
Notes: 1 Contract attrition rates are derived for contracts of training for apprentices and trainees. If an individual commenced two								

or more contracts in the same year, each is counted separately. Contract attrition rates do not take into account continuing contracts or expired contracts, where the outcome is unknown.

2 Trade occupations are defined as major occupation group 3 – Technicians and trades workers (ANZSCO 1st edn, revision 1).

Source: NCVER (2012a).

The pattern of attrition can be seen more clearly by plotting these proportions in a graph, as shown in figure 3. It is far more common to leave in the first two years of an apprenticeship than in the later years. We can see that two-fifths of the total cancellations occur within the first six months, while three-fifths, or 60%, occur within the first year, and 80% occur within the first two years.

Figure 3 Contract attrition rate¹ by time of cancellation/withdrawal, for contracts commencing in 2006 (trade occupations²)



Notes: 1 Contract attrition rates are derived for contracts of training for apprentices and trainees. If an individual commenced two or more contracts in the same year, each is counted separately. Contract attrition rates do not take into account continuing contracts or expired contracts, where the outcome is unknown.

2 Trade occupations are defined as major occupation group 3 – Technicians and trades workers (ANZSCO 1st edn, revision 1).

Source: NCVER (2012a).

These findings are broadly consistent with those from other studies. For example, Jones and Muthaya (2011), in their study of Tasmanian building and construction industry apprentices, find that the first year of training is the 'critical period' during which apprentices are most likely to leave their training contract. Approximately 52% of cancellations occurred in the first 12 months, while almost 80% of cancellations occurred within the first two years. Similarly, a survey of discontinued electrotechnology apprentices found that 40% of the sample had cancelled during the first year (Energy Skills Queensland 2009), while only 2% had cancelled during their fourth year.

Results relating to the timing of cancellations suggest that most attrition occurs in the first two years of the apprenticeship. As such, early completion policies, which allow apprentices to complete in a shorter time period (for example, two to three years rather than three to four years), are likely to have only a marginal effect on completion rates (Knight 2008).

Do the reasons for not completing change with duration?

Karmel and Mlotkowski (2010c) used data from the Apprentice and Trainee Destinations Survey (NCVER 2009; 2010a) to investigate whether the reasons for not completing change according to how far the individual was into their contract of training. They found that many, although not all, of the reasons increase or decrease in importance depending on duration.

One reason which maintained its importance irrespective of duration was the desire to do something different, such as being offered a better job or studying at university. This remained the top reason for leaving, regardless of duration. This suggests that apprentices are always on the lookout for other opportunities (Karmel & Mlotkowski 2010c), an idea we will return to later.

Investigating the other reasons, the authors found that those trade apprentices who leave early in their apprenticeship often do so because of poor working conditions or trouble with the boss, whereas those who leave after the two-year mark are more likely to do so for personal reasons. Given that workplace problems are among the top reasons cited amongst apprentices who withdraw early from their contract, the authors conclude that improving the matching of apprentices to workplaces may help to reduce early attrition (Karmel & Mlotkowski 2010c). More broadly, the results suggest that early attrition can be stemmed by directing more attention to improving apprentices' workplace experience.

What happens to those who quit?

The NCVER Apprentice and Trainee Destinations Surveys followed non-completing apprentices nine months after leaving their training. Approximately 75% of non-completers were employed, with 60% employed full-time and 15% part-time. In a similar study, Cully and Curtain (2001) found that 80% of non-completers were employed, mostly full-time. Only a small proportion of apprentices go on to further study. About 17% of non-completers were studying at TAFE (technical and further education) or another training provider, while 2% were studying at university (NCVER 2009).

Although a large proportion of non-completers are employed, only 25% are employed in the same occupation as their apprenticeship (NCVER 2009). This is compared with 77% of completers. This suggests that the fit between the occupation and the apprentices may have been poor. More importantly, just 7% of non-completers are employed with the same employer as their apprenticeship, compared with 50% of completers. This suggests that non-completers had a less favourable relationship with their employer than completers.

It appears that many of those who quit do not give up on the idea of an apprenticeship altogether. The NCVER survey found that approximately 22% of non-completing apprentices in a trade occupation had commenced another apprenticeship (NCVER 2009). Cully and Curtain (2001) also found that 44% of non-completing apprentices had recommenced their apprenticeship with a different employer. Two-thirds of those who recommenced did so in the same occupational area as their apprenticeship or traineeship.

Even for those who do not recommence an apprenticeship, there is evidence that some cancelled apprentices remain in the industry. For example, Patterson Market Research (2004) reported that approximately 25% of the cancelled building and construction apprentices in their sample stayed in the trade without completing their apprenticeship. This issue about the perceived value of a qualification will be addressed when we consider the value of completion.

The impact of wages

There is conflicting evidence on the importance of wages. Most studies find that apprentice wages are not the most common reason for non-completion, although low wages are nevertheless amongst the most frequently cited factors. Snell and Hart (2008) argue that a wage increase can only go part of the way to improving training outcomes, since there are often multiple contributing factors related to the employment experience to blame.

Although low wages did not rank particularly highly in the NCVER surveys, Dickie, McDonald and Pedic (2011) found that poor pay is one of the top two reasons given by discontinued apprentices for terminating their apprenticeship. Similarly, a study by Huntly Consulting Group (2008) found that wages and the cost of living were the two biggest concerns amongst interviewed apprentices. Apprentices were concerned about the cost of travel to and from the various sites assigned to them by their employer. In addition, wages were considered the single largest disincentive to taking up or completing an apprenticeship.

By contrast, Karmel and Mlotkowski (2011) found that in the trades it was the premium associated with becoming a tradesperson which mattered, rather than training wages. Indeed, more than 85% of apprentices in the Dickie, McDonald and Pedic (2011) study believed that the apprenticeship was a 'ticket to a well-paid job', which suggests that apprentices are aware of the premium attached to completing.

Some apprentices saw the low wages as a fair trade-off for receiving training, while others did not (see Cully & Curtain 2001). One employer in the Cully and Curtain (2001) study commented on the low-pay-in-return-for-training pay-off, saying that 'the kids also want more money in the job, but I am training them. If you are going to school or to university you don't get paid anything' (Cully & Curtain 2001, p.12).

Although wages are not always cited by apprentices as their top reason for leaving, they do appear to play a role in *retaining* apprentices, as companies with high retention rates often pay their apprentices above the required rates. This is discussed in more detail when the retention strategies used by employers with high apprentice retention rates are examined.

Some employers felt that apprentice wages were so low as to make other options (such as becoming a labourer or gaining alternative employment) more attractive: 'You can earn \$32 000 as a sales assistant at Bunnings, why take \$14 000 to do an apprenticeship?' (TNS Social Research 2007, p.41). We consider the opportunity cost of undertaking an apprenticeship in more detail in the section on the value of completing.

Fairness and respect

Apprentices and trainees often cited a lack of respect, being treated as 'cheap labour' and feeling like an inferior worker as contributing factors in their decision to leave (Snell & Hart 2008; Cully & Curtain 2001; Manufacturing Industry Skills Advisory Council 2009). For example, half of the noncompleting apprentices and trainees in the Cully and Curtain (2001) survey agreed that 'being treated as cheap labour' was a factor in their discontinuing their training.

Some may argue that apprentices go into their training with unrealistic expectations. However, there is evidence that apprentices are largely aware of what the apprenticeship will involve. For example, approximately 75% of apprentices in the Dickie, McDonald and Pedic (2011) study said that they knew the apprenticeship would involve 'hard work, low pay and bad conditions'.

Similarly, Smith, Walker and Brennan Kemmis (2011) explored the 'psychological contract' that exists between employers and apprentices; in other words, what each party expects of the other. They find that there is a high level of agreement between employers and apprentices over each party's obligations. Therefore a mismatch in expectations is not the problem.

Dickie, McDonald and Pedic (2011) suggest that fairness, in the sense of the apprenticeship being seen as 'a fair deal', is the tipping point for apprentices in terms of whether they stay or go. In particular, fairness with regards to the employment experience is seen as the key. For the deal to be considered fair, apprentices expect varied work; good supervision, with on-the-job training provided by a skilled tradesperson with coaching and mentoring skills; a good boss; and a safe, contemporary workplace free from bullying (Dickie, McDonald & Pedic 2011). The authors propose that if an apprentice does not feel they are receiving a fair deal, other factors start to matter more:

Apprentices will put up with a lot, including low wages, if what they get in return is fair ... If they don't get a fair deal, then any aspect of the apprenticeship — like pay, repetitive work or a lack of workmates — can become a source of dissatisfaction and restlessness and impact on their commitment and likelihood of completion. (Dickie, McDonald & Pedic 2011, p.13)

In other words, apprentices are willing to 'wear' the low pay if the training and experience they receive in return is deemed to be a fair trade-off.

Lack of support

Snell and Hart (2008) found that many apprentices felt 'left on their own', and didn't know where to turn to for assistance. A case study given in the *Apprenticeships for the 21st century report* explains that an apprentice has to talk to an unnecessarily complicated web of people and organisations to gain information (Apprenticeships for the 21st Century Expert Panel 2011). Given that many apprentices drop out in their first year, it could be argued that if they had received more support, or known who to call for assistance, some may have stayed.

Characteristics of successful apprentices

Individual characteristics are also correlated with completing apprenticeships. Ball and John (2005) found that those apprentices in the 'under 19' and 20 to 24-year age groups are least likely to complete, while those 45 years and over are most likely to complete. As well, the probability of completion increases with higher levels of schooling.

Location also plays a role. Apprentices and trainees in rural areas were more likely to complete than those in capital cities; however, this could be because apprentices in rural areas have fewer options than those in the city (Ball & John 2005; Snell & Hart 2008).

The recent national study of 1200 trade apprentices in New South Wales by Dickie, McDonald and Pedic (2011) classified apprentices into three groups, based on their answer to the following question: 'How likely are you to finish your apprenticeship?' Those who answered eight or more were classified as 'committed apprentices'; those who answered seven or fewer were classified as 'ambivalent'; and the remaining group had already discontinued their apprenticeship at the time of the survey. Overall, 62% of the sample were classified as 'committed', 12% as 'ambivalent' and 26% as discontinued.

Committed apprentices tended to have the following characteristics:

- have a strong interest in the trade, and often have family or friends in the trades
- want to work with their hands, out of doors
- believe in the long-term gain of completing their apprenticeship
- expect hard work, low pay and bad conditions and see them as part of the deal
- consider the apprenticeship contract as fair, given the rewards they get at the end.

By contrast, those who said that they 'fell into' an apprenticeship were more likely to be ambivalent or have discontinued than those who had always wanted to learn the trade. Dickie, McDonald and Pedic (2011) suggest the screening of would-be apprentices based on the above criteria.

Bardon (2010) also classified apprentices into several 'tiers', which align closely with those of Dickie, McDonald and Pedic (2011). Tier 1 apprentices are 'aspirational apprentices', who are committed and motivated. Often these apprentices have a social network that includes other trade workers and a passion or aptitude for the trade. Tier 3 apprentices, on the other hand, tend to be disengaged and have little association with a trade culture.

The influence of social background is also highlighted by Karmel and Roberts (2012). They show that apprentices who live in areas with a high concentration of trade employment have completion rates that are about five percentage points higher than those who live in areas with a low concentration of trade employment.

Occupation has an impact as well, with discontented apprentices more likely to be working in automotive, hairdressing and hospitality, industries which are known to have low success rates and high rates of staff and apprentice turnover (Dickie, McDonald & Pedic 2011).

Satisfaction with apprenticeship: completers versus non-completers

Satisfaction results from the Apprentice and Trainee Destinations Survey (NCVER 2009), presented in table 9, offer further insight into why apprentices do not complete.

In particular, there is a large difference in completers' and non-completers' satisfaction with their employment overall. The majority of completers (80%) were satisfied with the employment experience overall, compared with just 42% of non-completers. Non-completers' satisfaction with every aspect of the employment experience, including working conditions, supervision, relationship with co-workers and training provided by the employer, was about 20–30 percentage points lower across the board.

Satisfaction	Completers	Non-completers	Difference
	Satisfied (%)	Satisfied (%)	(% points)
Overall	83	45	38
Quality of off-the-job training	77	62	15
Frequency of training	75	57	18
Relevance of skills to workplace	78	62	16
Fairness of the assessments	85	73	12
Relevance of the assessment tasks	76	64	12
Quality of the training facilities and equipment	70	65	5
Employment overall	80	42	38
Training provided by employer	77	49	28
Relationship with co-workers	89	63	26
Working conditions	79	53	26
Skills learnt on the job	86	60	26
Type of work	82	58	24
Supervision	76	53	23
Hours of work	79	60	19
Pay	47	31	16

Table 9Satisfaction with the apprenticeship for completers and non-completers in a trade
occupation, 2008

Source: NCVER (2009), selected results.

Although there is some difference in completers' and non-completers' satisfaction with the quality of the off-the-job training (77% of completers were satisfied versus 62% of non-completers), this is nowhere near as large as the difference in satisfaction with the employment overall. This provides further evidence that the employment experience, rather than the off-the-job-training experience, carries greater weight in determining whether an apprentice stays or goes.

Change in young people's expectations

The literature on non-completion often makes mention of the characteristics of today's generation of young people, typically referred to as 'Generation Y'⁴ (for example, Dickie, McDonald & Pedic 2011; Huntly Consulting 2008; Smith, Walker & Brennan Kemmis 2011). For instance, in their interviews with industry stakeholders, Huntly Consulting (2008) noted that almost every stakeholder was of the view that the apprenticeship system was 'out of touch' with young people. As shown in table 10, the majority of commencing apprentices (64%) are under 25 years of age.

Table 10	Age profile of	commencing trade ¹	apprentices, 2012
----------	----------------	-------------------------------	-------------------

Age group	(%)
19 years and under	47
20-24 years	17
25-44 years	26
45 years and over	10
Total	100

Note: 1 Trade occupations are defined as major occupation group 3 – Technicians and trades workers (ANZSCO 1st edn, revision 1).

Source: NCVER Apprentice and Trainee Collection, March 2013 estimates.

⁴ The market group born between 1981 and 1997 (Ai Group 2007).

According to demographer Bernard Salt (2007), members of Generation Y are optimistic, fearless of the future and feel that they have plenty of options. Dickie, McDonald and Pedic (2011) suggest that these characteristics mean that they will always be on the lookout for better opportunities, will not hesitate to quit unrewarding work and will be optimistic about finding another job. Young people expect to have several careers over their working life and apprenticeships must compete with a host of other options (Dickie, McDonald & Pedic 2011). In short, Generation Y constitutes a highly mobile workforce. Indeed, Karmel and Mlotkowski (2010c) found that leaving to do something different or better remained the most common reason for cancelling, irrespective of how long an apprentice had been in training. The traits of Generation Y present particular challenges for employers. Several of these are discussed in the next section.

Other studies confirm that it is opportunity, rather than money, that motivates Generation Y when looking for work (McCrindle 2006). Money is not one of the top five factors this generation looks for when applying for jobs, with aspects such as work—life balance and workplace culture being considered more important (McCrindle 2006). This suggests that increasing the training wage would not automatically improve completion rates.

It is worth noting that completion rates changed little during the economic downturn, despite an increase in apprentice redundancies. Research by Karmel and Mlotkowski (2011) found that the economic downturn significantly increased the attractiveness of undertaking an apprenticeship relative to alternative employment. This suggests that, when other opportunities are less readily available, individuals are more inclined to stick with their apprenticeship.

Employer influences

In the previous section we saw that issues related to the employment experience are the most common reasons for not completing an apprenticeship. In this section we consider the employer's influence more closely. There is evidence that completion rates are highest with larger employers, those who employ many apprentices, and lowest for those employers with only one apprentice. Part of the reason that larger employers enjoy better completion rates is that they are more likely to have a human resources (HR) department, are more likely to have modern workplace practices and are better able to provide apprentices with structured training, mentoring support and a social network at work. These factors are considered in more detail below.

Employer size and type

As noted, a consistent finding is that larger employers have higher completion rates. For example, Karmel and Roberts (2012) found that employers with at least 25 apprentices have higher apprenticeship completion rates than smaller employers. As shown in table 11, employers with more than ten apprentices have completion rates that are up to 14 percentage points higher than those with ten or fewer apprentices. Companies with between 26 and 100 apprentices enjoy the highest completion rates, of around 60%.

		Complete (%)	N
Employer type	Private	49.1	160 270
	Group training	52.0	28 417
	Government (excl. defence)	77.6	5625
	Government (incl. defence)	80.3	7925
Employer size	1	46.8	50 253
(number of apprentices)	2–10	48.1	83 142
	11–25	56.9	12 973
	26–50	61.4	6825
	51–100	60.5	5089
	100 +	56.2	38 330
Total		50.4	196 612

Table 11 Estimated completion rates by selected employer characteristics and number of contracts in category

Source: Karmel & Roberts (2012).

Although larger employers experience higher completion rates, most apprentice employers are not large. Karmel and Roberts (2012) found that 63% of employers have only one apprentice; 20% had two apprentices, and just 17% had three or more apprentices. Further, employers with one apprentice accounted for 25% of all apprentices, and employers with up to three apprentices accounted for 50% of apprentices. So if small employers were discouraged from taking on apprentices, potentially half of the apprenticeship places would be lost.

The findings of Karmel and Roberts (2012) are supported by other studies. Cully and Curtain (2001) revealed that 90% of non-completing apprentices surveyed worked for organisations with fewer than 100 employees. Similarly, in their study of Tasmanian building and construction apprentices, Jones

and Muthaya (2011) found that only 15% of non-completing apprentices had been employed by businesses with over 100 employees.

Little difference is found between the completion rates of apprentices with group training organisations and of those in direct employment. Approximately 10% of commencing apprentices are employed with group training organisations, while the majority (86%) are employed in the private sector, as shown in table 12. Karmel and Roberts (2012) found that group training organisations have slightly higher completion rates than private employers, as shown in table 10, but the difference is marginal. The most notable difference between types of employers is between government employers and 'everyone else'. The completion rates with government employers are about 25–30 percentage points higher than those with private employers or group training organisations.

Employer type	Proportion of commencing apprenticeship contracts ¹		
	(%)		
Government	4.4		
Private sector	85.5		
Group training scheme	10.1		
Total	100		

 Table 12 Commencing apprenticeship contracts by employer type, 2012

Notes: 1 Includes trade occupations only, which are defined as major occupation group 3 – Technicians and trades workers (ANZSCO First edition, revision 1).

Source: NCVER Apprentice and Trainee Collection, March 2013 estimates.

It is perhaps surprising that the completion rates with group training organisations are only fractionally higher than those with private employers, given that group training organisations possess many of the characteristics associated with higher completion rates. These characteristics are discussed in more detail in the following sections and include rigorous recruitment practices, structured programs, the provision of varied work and support and mentoring. Future research could investigate why group training organisations do not seem to experience higher completion rates than private employers, despite possessing many of these characteristics.

Other employer characteristics

Dickie, McDonald and Pedic's (2011) extensive NSW study interviewed 500 employers of apprentices. The focus was on industries with skills shortages, including building and construction, engineering, electrical, automotive and cookery. In addition to business size, the authors identified several other employer factors influencing apprenticeship outcomes, categorising employers into three distinct groups.

Employers with the lowest retention rates (50% or less) tended to employ between one and 15 people and to have been in operation for under five years; they usually also only employed one apprentice at a time. These employers did not have a human resources department, and the business was not influenced by industry associations. Financial incentives mattered to them. Employer views on financial incentives are discussed in more detail later. Employers with medium retention rates (50–69%) tended to have more structure and management than those with the lowest retention rates. Of note was that they tended to have someone who assisted with human resources matters and to employ two to three apprentices at a time, rather than only one.

Employers with the highest retention rates (70–90%+) tended to be larger businesses, employing 50 or more employees. However, the exception was small experienced employers who had been in operation for over ten years, who also enjoyed high completion rates. Financial incentives were seen as less important for the employers with medium and high retention rates. The characteristics of the three groups of employers are summarised in table 13.

	Completion rate			
	Low (<50%)	Medium (50–69%)	High (70%+)	
Business characteristics	Generally have 1–15 employees	Generally have 1–15 employees	Generally have 50+ employees In operation for 10 years or	
	In operation for under 5 years	Have someone to help out with	more Have a HR department Financial incentives are seen as less important	
	No HR department Financial incentives are seen as important	Financial incentives are seen as less important		
	Usually employ one apprentice at a time	Usually employ 2–3 apprentices at one time	Usually employ several apprentices at one time	
	Tend not to be influenced by industry bodies and do not seek outside advice	More likely to be influenced by industry bodies and outside advice	More likely to be influenced by industry bodies and outside advice	

Table 13 Summary of the characteristics of employers with low, medium and high retention rates

Source: Dickie, McDonald & Pedic (2011).

Overall, Dickie, McDonald and Pedic (2011) identified three distinct segments among employers: (i) highly experienced and adept at managing apprentices; (ii) less experienced and requiring assistance to manage apprentices; (iii) unable to provide either appropriate training or an appropriate work environment. In a similar vein, Bardon (2010) classifies employers into 'tiers'. Tier 1 employers are large employers who support their apprentices well with wages and other benefits, while tier 3 employers tend to be start-up businesses, who may be motivated to take on apprentices because of their lower wages and the attraction of government incentives.

In addition, Dickie, McDonald and Pedic (2011) found that committed apprentices (those who rated their likelihood of completing at eight out of ten or more) generally had a favourable workplace experience, and:

- had a very good boss
- were treated fairly
- had a social network at work
- were trusted and given responsibility.

We now examine the impact of employers' views of financial incentives and management practices in more detail.

Views on financial incentives

An interesting finding to emerge from the Dickie, McDonald and Pedic (2011) study is that employers with high retention rates are *less* likely to say that financial incentives are important to them, compared with employers with low retention rates. Those employers with the lowest retention rates

said that the money mattered to them, and called for employer incentives to be increased. In addition, they wanted wage subsidies for unprofitable apprentices and compensation for the cost of their time in training them.

The Chamber of Commerce and Industry, Queensland (as cited in Apprenticeships for the 21st Century Expert Panel 2011, p.26) warns against increasing incentives for employers, as it shifts the responsibility for training onto the government:

Increasing incentives for employers may add to a culture in which the development of skills is a national responsibility to be exercised by governments (and funded by the taxpayer), much more than the enterprises that employ skilled workers and rely on them for their continuity and profitability.

For the current apprenticeship system to be successful, it could be argued that employers need to be *intrinsically* motivated to take on apprentices, rather than motivated by external monetary rewards. Perhaps one way of ensuring that only employers with adequate training capacity take on apprentices is to cease the incentive payments, since these seem to attract those employers who are least able to support an apprentice. We return to this idea in the final chapter.

Management practices

Dickie, McDonald and Pedic (2011) found that employers with good retention rates tend to have someone taking responsibility for human resources matters. Given that most businesses that employ apprentices are small, many do not have a dedicated human resources department; normally the boss *is* the HR department. This is a problem, because if apprentices need to discuss a grievance with someone, 'it's the boss or no one' (Dickie, McDonald & Pedic 2011, p.40). As well, larger businesses are more likely to take advice and are the most likely to say they've been influenced by their industry body, which may partly explain their higher completion rates.

Management style was also found to affect apprentices' experiences at work. Dickie, McDonald and Pedic (2011) suggested that if employers had a positive attitude towards their apprentices, they were more likely to retain them, noting that Generation Y apprentices preferred a mentor-style boss to an authoritarian-style boss.

Employer challenges

Employers of apprentices experience a number of challenges. These chiefly concern the recruitment of suitable apprentices, the ability to offer apprentices a variety of work, and supervision requirements.

National studies of employers of plumbing and bricklaying apprentices (Walker & Powers 2008, 2009a) highlighted that finding the right apprentice can be a challenge: there is no shortage of apprentices, but there is a shortage of suitable apprentices. As one respondent explained, 'Finding an apprentice is easy. Finding a good apprentice is very difficult' (Walker & Powers 2008, p.63).

When employers were asked about the greatest challenges in *keeping* an apprentice for the duration of their training, the following issues emerged (Walker & Powers 2008; 2009a):

- Generating the variety of work needed in order to cover everything the apprentice learns at trade school was sometimes a problem.
- While employers acknowledged that apprentices' wages were low, some felt that apprentices needed more assistance with budgeting.

- Providing training and supervision was often difficult to organise. Employers running a small business found it challenging to juggle the day-to-day running of the business with overseeing the apprentice.
- Keeping apprentices motivated in the midst of other distractions was often hard. As one employer explained:

Keeping the kids on track for the entire 4-year term is the hardest challenge we find. It seems difficult for many of them to keep up the effort and attitude required to get them through all the site and school training. (Walker & Powers 2008, p.64)

In another study, employers commented on apprentices' literacy and numeracy standards and were clearly frustrated by what they saw as falling standards: 'I've just finished interviewing and the numbers that were down on numeracy and literacy [are] still quite appalling ... It's a national disgrace' (Mitchell & Dobbs 2008, p.25).

Some employers also commented on the need for supervisor training. One employee observed that the majority of apprentice supervisors are tradespeople and that, while they may be accomplished tradespeople, it doesn't necessarily mean that they will be excellent teachers and communicators, especially if they haven't received any training (TNS Social Research 2007).

Group training schemes can alleviate some of these challenges, such as providing varied work and recruiting suitable apprentices. Group training organisations take responsibility for selection, administration and some supervision and pastoral care. However, employers may still prefer to employ apprentices directly, since this affords them greater control (Nechvoglod, Karmel & Saunders 2009).

Retention strategies used by 'best practice' employers

Mitchell and Dobbs (2008) interviewed 25 'best practice' employers of apprentices to identify the strategies they had in place to encourage apprentice retention. In most cases the employers were recommended by the state or territory chamber of commerce and industry. Almost all of the employers interviewed had retained over 80% of their apprentices (Mitchell & Dobbs 2008).

The employers represented a range of industries (automotive, electrical engineering, marine, mining, defence, healthcare, construction, manufacturing). They included both large and small businesses from every state in Australia, across metropolitan, regional and remote areas, that employed from one to 200 apprentices per annum.

In this section we highlight the features common to many of these best practice employers. For interested readers, three detailed case studies of employers and individual trades with high completion rates are provided in the appendix.

Rigorous recruitment practices

The best practice employers believed that recruiting appropriate apprentices to begin with was a prime factor behind their high retention rates. They preferred to select people who had done work experience with them, undertaken a prevocational program or were currently working as a trade assistant. Employers believed that, having had a 'taste of the trade', these people were more likely to be aware of what they were getting themselves into, compared with someone with no experience. Hiring an apprentice who had had no exposure to the trade was seen as risky. These employers often had strong links with schools and were actively involved in work placement programs with schools.

A 'good apprentice' was defined as someone who was mature and reliable, with an interest in the trade, a mechanical aptitude, a positive attitude and a desire to learn. Employers believed that apprentices with these attributes were easier to retain (Mitchell & Dobbs 2008). Note that these attributes align closely with the attributes of committed apprentices identified by Dickie, McDonald and Pedic (2011), described earlier.

Mature-age apprentices were seen as particularly desirable, with one employer describing them as 'absolutely [our] standout apprentices ... They complete early [and] they're extremely low maintenance' (Mitchell & Dobbs 2008, p.12). Likewise, Huntly Consulting Group (2008) noted that many industry stakeholders wanted to see a greater uptake of mature-age apprentices, as they were considered to be less likely to leave their apprenticeship and were able to be productive sooner. However, low apprentice wages are a barrier for mature-age apprentices, as we will see when we consider the opportunity cost of undertaking an apprenticeship. Those apprentices in the 18 to 24year age group were seen as the hardest to retain, because 'that 18 to 24-year bracket tends to have a lot of distractions out there' (Mitchell & Dobbs 2008, p.12).

Well-organised training structures

Many of the best practice employers had formal structured approaches to organising and monitoring the apprentice's work. Several used roster systems to record and rotate apprentices through a number of areas of the business to ensure they were exposed to all of the skills required. One business had monthly assessment tasks to track how well apprentices were performing. Another explained that they had defined the roles and responsibilities of supervisors, leading hands, shed managers and the management team, so that 'everyone is clear on what they should be doing in supporting the apprentices' (Mitchell & Dobbs 2008, p.28).

Most employers used a logbook to document the apprentice's work program and on-the-job learning. These employers were eager to ensure that apprentices were receiving exposure to a wide range of skills and not just being left to 'sweep up' or do one simple job *ad nauseam* (Mitchell & Dobbs 2008).

Generous wages and other benefits

Many of the best practice employers indicated that they paid apprentices above what was required. One employer explained:

We pay them well; we pay above the award rate, plus 25% on top of that and 26% more later. By the end of the first year they are operating as a tradesperson. (Mitchell & Dobbs 2008, p.12)

Often other benefits were provided in addition to higher wages, with one employer noting that:

If we've got them spare we give them the Ute while they're saving up for their own car ... They get uniforms, tools ... So we generally don't lose them. We've got less than a 7% cancellation rate.

(Mitchell & Dobbs 2008, p.11)

So even though low wages did not emerge as the main reason for not completing, the fact that many employers with high completion rates pay above-award wages suggests that low wages are a factor in apprentice retention.

More broadly, there is evidence that paying above-award rates is not unusual. A study by Oliver (2012) found that, contrary to popular belief, over-award payments for apprentices are common, particularly in the electrotechnology, automotive and engineering trades. His analysis of data from the 2009 Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) Survey of Education and Training found that most apprentices already receive more than the minimum wage set by the relevant award. However Oliver (2012)

points out that award wages for first year apprentices are often very low (for example, 37.5% of the applicable tradesperson rate), so it is not surprising that employers often pay above this rate in the first year.

Very recently, the Fair Work Commission (2013) announced pay rises for first and second year apprentices. Under the new scheme, first year apprentices who have completed Year 12 will receive a 30% pay rise (otherwise 19%), while second year apprentices who have completed Year 12 will receive an 18% pay rise (otherwise 9%). The pay increases will only apply to newly commencing apprentices and will be phased in over 2014 and 2015. In addition, pay rates for adult apprentices will increase, in recognition of the growing proportion of apprentices who are aged over 21 years (Fair Work Commission 2013).

Support mechanisms

Mentoring, buddy systems and other support mechanisms were almost universal across the 'best practice' firms (Mitchell & Dobbs 2008). One employer explained that they have a buddy system whereby all new apprentices are paired up with someone who can mentor them for the first six months. Some companies had several layers of support staff: buddy, mentor, counsellor, supervisor, training coordinator. For example, one employer described their system as follows:

You've got the mentor on the job, you've got the site supervisor, then we have the workplace health and safety officer. And then we have the apprentice development coordinator. And also we have here a high school teacher who also provides them with any literacy numeracy support that they need. (Mitchell & Dobbs 2008, p.34)

Some employers provided extra training and 'life skills' sessions as well, such as leadership training, teamwork training, positive thinking and drug and alcohol awareness. One employer took apprentices on a tour of a hospital intensive care unit to raise awareness of the dangers of drink driving. However, it is likely that such programs would only be viable for businesses with a large group of apprentices. So again, the issue of business size is important.

Implications

When considering all of the retention strategies described above, one factor stands out: they are much easier to provide if the employer is a larger, well-established company with formal systems in place than if the employer is a small start-up company. This fact was acknowledged by several of the 'best practice' companies themselves, who called for more guidance for smaller employers who take on apprentices:

It's ok for companies like ourselves that are relatively large. We can afford to do it. It's the mum and dad or the father and son type businesses who are looking at taking on apprentices who are struggling. And they're the ones that need the guidance ... they're the forgotten lot, really. And they're the ones that need the help. (Mitchell & Dobbs 2008, p.22)

Another employer noted that their well-developed training program was a direct result of their having a large apprentice intake:

We're lucky in that we have a training department that actually coordinates our apprentices because we've got so many apprentices. So as a result we've got a bit of an induction program. (Mitchell & Dobbs 2008, p.21)

In the final chapter we consider how these observations may inform future policy considerations.

Cost to the employer

Taking on an apprentice requires a substantial financial commitment from the employer. It is generally agreed that an apprentice is a direct cost for the first two years (Walker & Powers 2009a; Nechvoglod, Karmel & Saunders 2009; TNS Social Research 2007). Nechvoglod, Karmel and Saunders (2009) found that the most significant cost to the employer is related to apprentice supervision and tends to be highest early on in the apprenticeship and decreases over time. Wages are found to be approximately equal to the apprentice's productivity and so are not considered a cost. More importantly, the authors found that government incentive payments offset the supervision costs to only a minor degree (Nechvoglod, Karmel & Saunders 2009).

Indeed, a 2007 study in the building and construction industry (TNS Social Research 2007) found that the expense of an apprentice was too great for many small businesses and subcontractors. The most substantial difficulty was the large amount of supervisory resources required. One employer explained that training an apprentice 'takes too many resources and it's hard to get staff to look after them' (TNS Social Research 2007, p.38).

Karmel and Rice (2011) argued that the high up-front costs of taking on an apprentice mean that the cost of non-completion to an employer is very high, because employers generally do not incur any benefits until the later years of the apprenticeship. In the context of these high costs, Nechvoglod, Karmel and Saunders (2009) proposed an alternative apprenticeship model, one which comprises two years of institution-based training before a period of on-the-job training. This way, apprentices require less supervision and are more productive in the workplace due to their increased training time, making them less of a burden to employers. However, it is important to point out that this model would not reduce overall costs. Rather, it would transfer costs from employers to the government and individual apprentices (Nechvoglod, Karmel & Saunders 2009).

Off-the-job training experience

Results from the Apprentice and Trainee Destination Survey (NCVER 2009; 2010a) and other studies (Cully & Curtain 2001) suggest that the off-the-job training experience is not the main cause of noncompletion. That said, there are a number of areas where apprentices, employers and training providers experience frustration, and addressing some of these concerns has the potential to improve completion rates.

Apprentice and employer satisfaction

Apprentices are reasonably satisfied with the quality of the off-the-job training, with an overall satisfaction level of 77% for completers and 62% for non-completers (NCVER 2009). However, in a national study of plumbing apprentices (Walker & Powers 2008), apprentices suggested a number of improvements. These related to the availability of sessions, planning of timetables, and availability of up-to-date tools and supplies. In particular, there was a call for greater flexibility with regards to training delivery, such as options for days to make up lessons if a day was missed for an acceptable reason (Walker & Powers 2008). Note that the frequency of the off-the-job training was one of the aspects that non-completers were least satisfied with in the NCVER survey (see table 9).

Studies suggest that employers are decidedly less satisfied with their training provider than apprentices. For example, when employers of plumbing apprentices were asked to rate their relationship with their registered training organisation, 45% felt the relationship was good or very good, 35% felt it was average, while 20% felt it was poor or very poor (Walker & Powers 2008).

Providers were often viewed as inflexible with regard to training times, hard to contact, disorganised, and having slow administration processes (Mitchell & Dobbs 2008; Walker & Powers 2008). Although frustrating, these issues are unlikely to directly impact on completion rates. However, one issue which is more strongly related to completion rates is the need for more feedback on apprentice progress, and is discussed below.

Feedback on apprentice progress

Employers expressed a desire for more frequent and detailed feedback on apprentice progress. Approximately one-third of the employers surveyed in the bricklaying industry and half of the employers in the plumbing industry felt that they did not receive enough information from training providers about their apprentices (Walker & Powers 2008, 2009a). One employer commented that they would like to 'receive information earlier and have it provided proactively rather than having to chase it on occasions' (Walker & Powers 2008, p.58). Employers were keen to receive detailed feedback so that they could provide the apprentice with extra help in areas where he/she was struggling (Walker & Powers 2008). It could be argued that more detailed feedback could help to provide the early warning signs for apprentices who are at risk of dropping out, offering the employer a chance to intervene.

Challenges for trainers

Two of the biggest challenges identified by vocational education and training (VET) teachers in the bricklaying and plumbing trades were accommodating employer needs by offering more flexible delivery times and the literacy and numeracy difficulties of students (Walker & Powers 2008; 2009a).

Since the first of these is unlikely to directly influence completion rates, as apprentices rarely cite off-the-job training problems as their main reason for not completing, we focus on the literacy and numeracy challenges.

Literacy and numeracy difficulties

VET teachers commented that apprentices lacked fundamental skills such as Year 9 level mathematics and English. One respondent emphasised the need for an aptitude test to ensure that applicants had the language and mathematics skills required to complete their training (Walker & Powers 2009a). Some providers need to offer supplementary bridging courses to bring apprentices up to the required standard (Huntly Consulting Group 2008).

VET teachers noted that some apprentices did not realise that they needed to understand mathematics, physics and chemistry in order to cope with the theory sections of the course (Walker & Powers 2009a). One respondent called for parents to be made more aware of the requirements of learning a trade, feeling that the general perception was that the trades did not require high-level skills:

Parents and/or guardians will push their child towards a plumbing trade due to them not being capable to continue at their school and onto university etc. and don't understand the true nature of training levels required to make it as a plumbing apprentice. (Walker & Powers 2008, p.67)

Teachers of plumbing apprentices often find that apprentices are surprised by the amount of theory involved, having expected only practical work (Walker & Powers 2008). Perhaps more detail about the training should be given up front to those considering certain apprenticeships, so that they understand the large volume of theory required and the need for proficiency in literacy and numeracy.

Implications

The comments in this section suggest that a greater understanding between employers and training providers could alleviate some of the frustrations identified. As suggested by Mitchell and Dobbs (2008), it may be that the relationship between the training provider and the employer needs to be reconsidered so that the training provider plays the role of a service provider meeting a client's needs.

Meanwhile, the language, literacy and numeracy issues with apprentices point to a problem with the school sector as a whole, rather than being unique to the apprenticeship system. In the same way that university courses have prerequisites, perhaps consideration could be given to apprenticeships having as prerequisites specific levels of literacy and numeracy. Some apprenticeships do provide guidance on the types of skills required for entry, but these tend to be recommendations rather than strict requirements. Numeracy skills are sometimes assessed as part of the application process. For example, the first round of the recruitment process for one employer of electrical apprentices requires candidates to complete an online numeracy assessment (Essential Energy 2013).

The value of completing

The implicit assumption behind wanting to raise completion rates is that completing an apprenticeship is beneficial. How true is this assumption? Some questions worth asking (Laporte & Mueller 2011) include:

- Is there a wage premium attached to completing?
- Is the probability of employment enhanced by completion?

If not, there may be little incentive to complete. We consider these issues and others in this section.

Is not completing always a bad thing?

As part of their national study into bricklaying apprenticeships, Walker and Powers (2009a) spoke to group training organisations, unions, association members and employers about apprentice attrition rates. Some of those interviewed felt that there was too much concern about attrition and that some attrition was actually a *good* thing. One participant explained:

We shouldn't get too hooked up on attrition rates. Some attrition is good as it's weeding out the kids who aren't suited. (Walker & Powers 2009a, p.27)

However, attrition still represents wasted time and resources, and this comment suggests that more effort could be put into the recruitment phase.

Other stakeholders in the Walker and Powers (2009a) study commented that today's young people are a highly mobile workforce, and that some attrition is inevitable:

We need to remember that this is Gen Y we're dealing with. This group is very mobile and are quite happy to try a number of different jobs. (Walker & Powers 2009a, p.27)

The majority of apprentices are young adults who are searching for work, study and career opportunities that maximise their own potential, and in this context at least some of the non-completions are normal and to be expected (Cully & Curtain 2001). Also, even if apprentices do not complete, they may still experience benefits from completing the training. For example, Cully and Curtain (2001) note that non-completers still acquire work-related skills even if no qualification is obtained.

Monetary rewards

For those studying a trade, the monetary reward of completing an apprenticeship is substantial, with the average annual income for trade apprentices in 2010 jumping from \$36 600 during the last week of their apprenticeship to \$52 500 upon completion (NCVER 2010a). Non-completers working full-time, on the other hand, earn an average of \$39 000, around \$13 000 less than completers (NCVER 2010a). Looking at individual occupations within the trades, all enjoy substantial pay increases on completion, except for hairdressers. The pay rise ranges from only \$630 for hairdressers, up to \$23 000 for electrotechnology and telecommunications (Karmel & Mlotkowski 2010b). These findings show that not everyone who completes an apprenticeship will be rewarded with a higher income (Karmel & Mlotkowski 2010b).

One point that is clear from the above and also highlighted by Karmel and Rice (2011) is that the benefits of completing an apprenticeship vary greatly by occupation, and hence it is misleading to estimate the benefits on an aggregate basis. Using data from the 2005 ABS Income and Housing Costs Survey, Karmel and Rice (2011) found that the value of a certificate III/IV varies by occupation.

Nechvoglod, Karmel and Saunders (2009) considered the opportunity cost associated with undertaking an apprenticeship. They determined the pay-back period, based on the premium a skilled tradesperson earns relative to an unskilled worker in the same occupation. They found that for some trades there will be a pay-back within one or two years, but for others, the pay-back will not be realised until 20 years down the track. For adult apprentices, the pay-back period can be over 50 years! Of the three trades investigated (electrical, plumbing and refrigeration), the authors found that electrical trades had the shortest pay-back period — roughly two years for a youth apprentice and roughly five years for an adult apprentice. By contrast, refrigeration and plumbing had pay-back periods of approximately 20 years for youth apprentices and in excess of 50 years for adult apprentices. The length of the pay-back period is strongly influenced by the wage of a qualified tradesperson in the occupation, and how this compares with wages in alternative employment. Although this work was based on a limited range of occupations and involved only six case studies, it nonetheless highlights that the time taken to realise the monetary rewards of undertaking an apprenticeship can be substantial.

Employment prospects

What about the value of completion in terms of future employment? The Apprentice and Trainee Destinations Survey (NCVER 2010) found that completers were more likely to be in full-time employment than non-completers. In 2008, approximately 85% of completers were employed full-time nine months after finishing their trade apprenticeship, compared with only 60% of non-completers.

While approximately 80% of completers were employed in the same occupation as their apprenticeship nine months after finishing their training, the same could only be said for about 25% of non-completers (NCVER 2010). This suggests that the non-completers either did not like the occupation they were training in or had found a better job in a different occupation.

Karmel and Rice (2011) looked at the employment benefits for three groups associated with labour market disadvantage: Indigenous people, people with a disability, and rural and remote Australians. Using data from NCVER's Student Outcomes Survey, they found that those who completed their apprenticeship had better employment outcomes relative to those who did not complete. For example, of those with a disability, eight out of ten individuals who completed their apprenticeship were employed after training, compared with only five out of ten non-completers. More importantly, for those with a disability who were not employed before training, 46% of completers were employed after training, compared with just 20% of non-completers with a disability.

Summary

Returning to the questions at the start of this section, we can conclude that the wage premium attached to completion is significant for most, but not all, trade apprenticeships. In addition, the probability of being in full-time employment is enhanced by completion.

Final comments

This section summarises the main findings and considers how they may inform future policy directions.

Key findings

The key findings to emerge from this literature review include the following:

- Employment-related reasons are the most common reasons for not completing. These include interpersonal difficulties with employers and colleagues, not liking the work, being made redundant and low wages. By contrast, issues with the off-the-job training are among the least frequently cited reasons for not completing.
- Apprentices generally leave their apprenticeship early in the contract: 60% of those who leave do so within the first year. This suggests that advice and support for apprentices and employers is needed in the early stages of the apprenticeship.
- Apprentices with a passion for the trade tend to have higher completion rates than those who 'fell into an apprenticeship' or were ambivalent about their decision to begin one.
- Employers with the highest completion rates are generally larger, experienced employers with well-organised systems for managing apprentices. Employers with lower completion rates tend to be smaller and have less experience.
- The best completion outcomes are achieved by employers with high training capacity, who can
 offer variety, mentoring support, formal and structured programs, good working conditions and
 generous wages. These tend to be larger employers, although there is evidence that smaller
 experienced companies also achieve good outcomes. In particular, government employers achieve
 completion rates that are up to 30 percentage points higher than the completion rates of private
 sector employers and group training organisations.
- Employers with high completion rates also tend to have very rigorous recruitment practices, sometimes involving several rounds of interviews.
- VET teachers commented that apprentices lacked fundamental skills such as Year 9 level mathematics and English.
- The completion of an apprenticeship is associated with better employment outcomes and higher wages relative to non-completion.

Future directions for policy and practice

Bearing in mind the results from the literature, we propose four ideas for consideration, along with recent policy initiatives related to them.

Assess apprentice suitability

The findings suggest that spending more time assessing whether would-be apprentices are suited to an apprenticeship will reduce wastage in the system. Encouraging more rigorous recruitment strategies on the part of the employer is one way to achieve this. Part of the selection process could be to ensure that some agreed minimum standards of literacy and numeracy are met, in response to VET teachers' concerns about the low literacy and numeracy levels among apprentices. In addition, more

information should be provided up front to those considering an apprenticeship, via career counsellors or Australian Apprenticeship Centres, so that they can be well informed about what the apprenticeship will entail.

To this end, the government has recently announced an Australian Apprenticeships Advisers Program. The program targets school leavers who are considering a career in a skilled occupation and who would like to know more about an apprenticeship (Australian Government 2013a).

Assess employer suitability

One of the findings to emerge quite strongly from this literature review is the importance of the employer having the *capacity* to provide training. Training capacity is largely a function of employer size. Larger employers are more likely to have well-organised training departments and well-established support systems, and in turn achieve higher completion rates.

Employer size per se is not something that can be influenced by policy. However, given what we know about the reasons larger employers do better, there are a number of options available. One option is to screen employers before they are permitted to take on apprentices. For example, Dickie, McDonald and Pedic (2011) recommended that employers be required to meet a series of prerequisites before they can employ apprentices. Cully and Curtain (2001) made a similar recommendation for improving completion rates. Formalising this idea, the Apprenticeships for the 21st Century Expert Panel (2011) recommended that employers be accredited before they are allowed to take on an apprentice. Higher regulatory cost would of course need to be balanced against the potential benefits of such an approach.

It must also be acknowledged that a reduction in the number of employers may result in fewer completions overall (since there would be fewer apprenticeship places available), even though the completion *rate* would likely improve. Hence, alternative apprenticeship models may warrant consideration.

Provide greater assistance for employers and apprentices

The findings suggest that smaller and less-experienced employers are generally less adept at managing apprentices and require greater support. For example, employers may not know which recruitment strategies to use in order to obtain the most suitable applicants. Perhaps a 'recruitment kit' could be developed, which could be distributed to all businesses who wish to take on apprentices. The development of such a kit may require further research into the most successful recruitment strategies. For example, the kit could be based on what is done at the best practice employers in the Mitchell and Dobbs (2008) study and others.

Another difference between small and large businesses is the extent of the mentoring support provided. More resources should be directed towards improving the mentoring services for apprentices and ensuring that all apprentices have equal access to support. Larger businesses normally provide the mentoring services 'in-house', but for smaller companies they may need to be outsourced. Providing professional development programs for all apprentice supervisors may also help to close the completion rates divide between larger and smaller businesses.

With regards to mentoring, the government has recently announced funding for an Australian Apprenticeships Mentoring Program with the aim of improving the mentoring services available to apprentices (Australian Government 2013b). The program provides approximately \$80 million in funding from 2011 to 2015 to support the targeted mentoring of apprentices. The program relies on

industry bodies to lead individual projects. As of May 2013, 33 mentoring projects had received funding (Australian Government 2013b). An evaluation of the impact these projects have had on completion rates, if any, should be carried out at a later date.

Since 2011 the Apprenticeship Support Officer program has been in place in Victoria (Department of Education and Early Childhood Development 2013). A Victorian Government initiative, its aim is to provide targeted support to apprentices in their first year, since they are the group who are most at risk of withdrawing. Support officers are intended specifically for apprentices aged 15–24 years who are in the first year of their apprenticeship. Victoria also has an Apprenticeship Field Officer program (Department of Education and Early Childhood Development 2013). Apprenticeship field officers are responsible for giving regulatory advice and support to apprentices and trainees and their employers, such as investigating disputes and providing counselling (Department of Education and Early Childhood Development 2013).

Consider alternative apprenticeship models

The results from the literature review suggest that the current system displays weaknesses that cannot easily be addressed, such as the prevalence of small employers, and that perhaps alternative models should be considered.

It could be argued that the best practice employers are similar to a training provider in many respects, in that they have several apprentices employed at once and offer formal and organised training programs. Given that most employers do not have the capacity to provide training at this level, a logical step could be to outsource more of the training to providers, easing the pressure on employers. The alternative model suggested by Nechvoglod, Karmel and Saunders (2009), which includes two years of off-the-job training followed by two years of on-the-job training, appears worthy of consideration. Future research could assess the feasibility of such a model and the potential for the development of a trial program.

Another advantage of Nechvoglod, Karmel and Saunders's (2009) alternative training model is that employer incentive payments may no longer be required. Research found that apprentices are typically a direct cost to employers for the first two years and become more profitable in the final two years of their apprenticeship. If the two-year 'direct cost' period was avoided altogether, employers may be more willing to take on apprentices without requiring any added sweeteners. Instead, the funds currently used for incentive payments could be put towards funding the expanded off-the-job training component.

Very recently, in the 2013–14 Budget, the government announced its 'Alternative Pathways to the Trades' project, which aims to trial alternative approaches to traditional apprenticeships (Australian Government 2013c). Speeding up the process via which skilled tradespeople become qualified is the rationale behind the scheme. If some of the alternative approaches trialled are deemed successful, this project may lead to alternative apprenticeship models.

References

- ABS (Australian Bureau of Statistics) 2013, *Labour force, Australia, detailed, quarterly, February 2013,* cat.no.6291.0.55.003, ABS, Canberra.
- Ai Group 2007, A guide to managing the first 100 days of an apprenticeship: a practical approach, Department of Education, Science and Training, Australian Industry Group & Australian Industry Group Training Services, North Sydney, viewed 18 June 2013, http://www.aigts.com.au/UserFiles/File/ 6128_Reduc_non_c_rates_webfinal.pdf>.
- Apprenticeships for the 21st Century Expert Panel 2011, A shared responsibility: apprenticeships for the 21st century, final report, viewed 18 April 2013, http://www.australianapprenticeships.gov.au/publications/shared-responsibility-apprenticeships-21st-century.
- Australian Government 2013a, Australian Apprenticeships Advisers Program, viewed 29 July 2013, http://www.australianapprenticeships.gov.au/program/australian-apprenticeships-advisers-program.
- ——2013b, Australian Apprenticeships Mentoring Program, viewed 29 July 2013, <http://www.australianapprenticeships.gov.au/program/australian-apprenticeships-mentoringprogram>.
- ---2013c, Alternative Pathways to the Trades -- Pilot, viewed 17 September 2013, http://www.australianapprenticeships.gov.au/publications/alternative-pathways-trades-pilot>.
- Ball, K & John, D 2005, Apprentice and trainee completion rates, NCVER Apprentice and Trainee Collection, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 18 June 2013, http://www.voced.edu.au/content/ngv2519>.
- Bardon, B 2010, *The future of trade apprenticeships in Australia*, Central West Group Apprentices, Bathurst.
- Bednarz, A 2012, Lifting the Iid on completion rates in the VET sector: how they are defined and derived, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 18 April 2013, http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2467.html.
- Cully, M & Curtain, R 2001, *Reasons for new apprentices' non-completions*, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 18 June 2013, http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/685.html.
- Department of Education and Early Childhood Development Victoria 2013, *Field and support officers*, viewed 17 September 2013, http://www.education.vic.gov.au/training/learners/apprentices/Pages/officers.aspx.
- Dickie, M, McDonald, R & Pedic, F 2011, A fair deal: apprentices and their employers in NSW: integrated research report, NSW Board of Vocational Education and Training, Sydney, viewed 18 June 2013, http://www.bvet.nsw.gov.au/pdf/afairdealfinalreport.pdf.
- Energy Skills Queensland 2009, Addressing skills wastage in apprenticeships non completion rates, Energy Skills Queensland research report no.1 March 2009, viewed 18 June 2013, http://www.energyskillsqld.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2013, http://www.energyskillsqld.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2011/12/paper-010209-research-report-for-skills-wastage-apprenticeships.pdf>.
- Essential Energy 2013, *Electrical apprenticeships recruitment process*, viewed 29 July 2013, http://www.essentialenergy.com.au/content/apprentice-application-process.
- Fair Work Commission 2013, *Transitional review of modern awards* apprentices, trainees and juniors: common claims, viewed 17 September 2013, <http://www.fwc.gov.au/documents/summaries/ 2013fwcfb5411_summary.htm>.
- Harvey, B 2010a, Apprentice and trainee statistics: estimation of contract completion and attrition rates, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 31 May 2013, http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2388.html.
- ---2010b, Estimation of apprentice and trainee statistics, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 31 May 2013, http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2267.html.
- Huntly Consulting Group 2008, *Exits from the trades: final report: research into attrition from the trades*, Exit from the Trades research project, Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, Canberra, viewed 18 June 2013, http://pandora.nla.gov.au/pan/92747/20090106-1311/ www.dest.gov.au/sectors/training_skills/publications_resources/profiles/FinalReport.pdf>.
- Jane Clancy Consulting 2008, Apprenticeship completion rates in the building and construction industry, Building Industry Consultative Council Industry Advisory Body, Victoria.
- Jones, A & Muthaya, R 2011, *Final report: mentoring for building and construction apprentices and trainees*, Purple Infinity Consulting, Melbourne, viewed 14 June 2013, http://www.binaryblue.com.au/docs/ApprenticeMentoringReport.pdf.
- Karmel, T 2011, Individual-based completion rates for apprentices, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 31 May 2013, http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2357.html>.

- Karmel, T & Mlotkowski, P 2010a, Estimating apprentice and trainee completion and attrition rates using a 'life tables' approach, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 8 April 2013, <http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/ 2389.html>.
- ---2010b, The impact of wages on the probability of completing an apprenticeship or traineeship, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 8 April 2013, <http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2277.html>.
- ---2010c, How reasons for not completing apprenticeships and traineeships change with duration, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 8 April 2013, http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2234.html>.
- ——2011, The impact of wages and the likelihood of employment on the probability of completing an apprenticeship or traineeship, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 30 July 2013, http://www.ncver.edu.au/ publications/2364.html.
- Karmel, T & Rice, J 2011, The economics of apprenticeships and traineeships, NCVER research report 4 for the Apprenticeships for the 21st Century Expert Panel, viewed 19 September 2013, http://www.australianapprenticeships.gov.au/publications/ncver-report-4-economics-apprenticeshipsand-traineeships-.
- Karmel, T & Roberts, D 2012, *The role of 'culture' in apprenticeship completions*, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 31 May 2013, http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2498.html.
- Knight, B 2008, 'Insights into traditional apprenticeship completions: spin-offs from a National Training Statistics Committee project', presentation at No Frills 2008: 17th National Vocational Education and Training Research Conference, University of Tasmania, Launceston, 9–11 July 2008.
- Laporte, C & Mueller, RE 2011, The completion behaviour of registered apprentices: who continues, who quits, and who completes programs?, Statistics Canada Analytical Studies Branch research paper series, Statistics Canada, Ottawa, viewed 18 June 2013, http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/11f0019m/11f0019m/11f0019m2011333-eng.htm.
- McCrindle, M 2006, 'New generations at work: attracting, recruiting, retraining and training Generation Y', McCrindle Research, viewed 19 June 2013, http://www.libraries.vic.gov.au/downloads/Public_Libraries_Unit/newgenerationsatwork.pdf>.
- Manufacturing Industry Skills Advisory Council (MISAC) SA 2009, *The 2008 South Australian Apprenticeship Survey: what it means for SA manufacturing: summary report*, MISAC, Adelaide, viewed 18 June 2013, http://www.misac.com.au/cgi-bin/download.cgi?id=81.
- Mark, K & Karmel, T 2010, *The likelihood of completing a VET qualification: a model-based approach*, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 8 April 2013, http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2272.html.
- MGET 2010, Response to Skills Australia discussion paper 'Creating a future direction for Australian vocational education and training', MGET Australia Ltd, viewed 6 September 2013, http://www.awpa.gov.au/our-work/tertiary-sector-reform/documents/sub-MEGT.pdf>.
- Mitchell, J & Dobbs, G 2008, A systematic approach to retaining apprentices: findings from the 25 national interviews, Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry, Canberra, viewed 18 June 2013, ">http://www.acci.asn.au/getattachment/206ff26b-abfd-44b9-8a8d-4a546eecbb9b/AC0001_Interviews-Report_4.aspx>">http://www.acci.asn.au/getattachment/206ff26b-abfd-44b9-8a8d-4a546eecbb9b/AC0001_Interviews-Report_4.aspx>">http://www.acci.asp.au/getattachment/206ff26b-abfd-44b9-8a8d-4a546eecbb9b/AC0001_Interviews-Report_4.aspx>">http://www.acci.asp.au/getattachment/206ff26b-abfd-44b9-8a8d-4a546eecbb9b/AC0001_Interviews-Report_4.aspx>">http://www.acci.asp.au/getattachment/206ff26b-abfd-44b9-8a8d-4a546eecbb9b/AC0001_Interviews-Report_4.aspx>">http://www.acci.asp.au/getattachment/206ff26b-abfd-44b9-8a8d-4a546eecbb9b/AC0001_Interviews-Report_4.aspx>">http://www.acci.asp.au/getattachment/206ff26b-abfd-44b9-8a8d-4a546eecbb9b/AC0001_Interviews-Report_4.aspx>">http://www.acci.asp.au/getattachment/206ff26b-abfd-44b9-8a8d-4a546eecbb9b/AC0001_Interviews-Report_4.aspx>">http://www.acci.asp.au/getattachment/206ff26b-abfd-44b9-8a8d-4a546eecbb9b/AC0001_Interviews-Report_4.aspx>">http://www.acci.asp.au/getattachment/206ff26b-abfd-44b9-8a8d-4a546eecbb9b/AC0001_Interviews-Report_4.aspx>">http://www.acci.asp.au/getattachment/206ff26b-abfd-44b9-8a8d-4a546eecbb9b/AC0001_Interviews-Report_4.aspx>">http://www.acci.asp.au/getattachment/206ff26b-abfd-44b9-8a8d-4a546eecbb9b/AC0001_Interviews-Report_4.aspx>">http://www.acci.asp.au/getattachment/206ff26b-abfd-44b9-8a8d-4a546eecbb9b/AC0001_Interviews-Report_4.aspx>">http://www.acci.asp.au/getattachment/206ff26b-abfd-44b9-8a8d-4a546eecbb9b/AC0001_Interviews-Report_4.aspx">http://www.acci.asp.au/getattachment/206ff26b-abfd-44b9-8a8d-4a546eecbb9b/AC0001_Interviews-Report_4.aspx">http://www.acci.asp.au/getattachment/206ff26b-abfd-44b9-8a8d-4a546eecbb9b/AC0001_Interviews-Report_4.aspx<">http://w
- Mitchell, J, Dobbs, G & Ward, J 2008, A systematic approach to retaining apprentices, Australian Chamber of Commerce and Industry and Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, Canberra, viewed 18 June 2013, http://www.acci.asn.au/Research-and-Publications/Issues-Papers/Human-Capital/A-Systematic-Approach-to-Retaining-Apprentices.
- NCVER (National Centre for Vocational Education Research) 2009, Australian vocational education and training statistics: apprentice and trainee destinations 2008, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 18 June 2013, http://www.voced.edu.au/content/ngv55526>.
- ---2010a, Australian vocational education and training statistics: apprentice and trainee destinations 2010, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 3 May 2013, http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2262.html>.
- ---2010b, Australian vocational education and training statistics: student outcomes 2010, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 8 December 2011, <http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2315.html>.
- ——2010c, Australian vocational education and training statistics: completion and attrition rates for apprentices and trainees 2010, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 3 June 2013, http://www.voced.edu.au/content/ngv47232>.
- ——2012a, Australian vocational education and training statistics: completion and attrition rates for apprentices and trainees 2011, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 3 June 2013, <http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2506.html>.
- --2012b, Australian vocational education and training statistics: the likelihood of completing a VET qualification 2006–09, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 3 June 2013, <http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2549.html>.
- ——2012c, Australian vocational education and training statistics: apprentices and trainees 2011 annual, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 25 June 2013, <http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2507.html>.

- NCVER 2013a, Australian vocational education and training statistics: apprentices and trainees 2012– December quarter, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 5 June 2013, http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2624.html.
- ——2013b, Australian vocational education and training statistics: apprentices and trainees 2013 early trend estimates, March quarter, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 5 June 2013, .
- Nechvoglod, L, Karmel, T & Saunders, J 2009, *The cost of training apprentices*, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 4 July 2013, http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2129.html.
- Oliver, D 2012, 'An examination of award wages among Australian apprentices and trainees', Australian Bulletin of Labour, vol.38, no.2, pp.158–76.
- Patterson Market Research 2004, *Building worker and apprentice attrition rates survey*, Building and Construction Industry Training Fund, Perth, Western Australia.
- Salt, B 2007, 'Beyond the baby boomers: the rise of Generation Y', KPMG, viewed 19 June 2013, http://www.bernardsalt.com.au/pdf/Beyond_the_Baby_Boomers.pdf.
- Smith, E, Walker, A & Brennan Kemmis, R 2011, Understanding the psychological contract in apprenticeships and traineeships to improve retention, NCVER, Adelaide, viewed 2 July 2013, http://www.ncver.edu.au/publications/2432.html.
- Snell, D & Hart, A 2007, 'I think about leaving every day: doesn't everyone?': reasons for non-completion and dissatisfaction amongst apprentices and trainees, Research Unit for Work and Communications Futures (RUWCF), Monash University, Melbourne, viewed 18 June 2013, http://gippslandtlc.com.au/Docs/garpreport.pdf>.
- ---2008, 'Reasons for non-completion and dissatisfaction among apprentices and trainees: a regional case study', *International Journal of Training Research*, vol.6, no.1, pp.44–73, viewed 18 June 2013, http://www.avetra.org.au/downloads/Snell%20and%20Hart%20final.pdf>.
- TNS Social Research 2007, *The value of a trade qualification: a research report*, Building and Construction Industry Training Fund (BCITF), viewed 24 June 2012, http://bcitf.org/upload/documents/research_reports/ValueQualificationfinal.pdf>.
- Walker, J & Powers, T 2008, *Plumbing apprenticeships: drivers and impediments*, Altegis Group, Victoria, viewed 18 June 2013, http://altegis.com.au/projects/environment/pdf/06.pdf.
- ——2009a, Barriers and drivers for bricklaying apprenticeships, Altegis Group, Victoria, viewed 18 June 2013, <http://altegis.com.au/projects/environment/pdf/01.pdf>.
- ---2009b, National bricklaying apprenticeship status report, Altegis Group, Victoria, viewed 18 June 2013, http://altegis.com.au/projects/industry/pdf/01.pdf.

Appendix: Case studies

This appendix presents several examples of trades or businesses with high completion rates and looks at the possible reasons behind these high rates.

Case study 1: Fire Protection apprenticeships

Fire protection, which involves the installation and maintenance of automatic sprinkler systems in buildings, has an apprenticeship completion rate of 85% (Jane Clancy Consulting 2008). Several characteristics of this apprenticeship are believed to be behind its high completion rate. These are detailed below. However, the relative importance of each factor is unknown.

• Fire protection is a registered/licensed trade, and the link between completing the registration and obtaining the qualification is strong. One interviewee noted:

The link between completing the qualification and registration is clear – if you do not complete the apprenticeship you do not get registered therefore you do not work. There is no option to become a 'half sprinkler fitter'. (Jane Clancy Consulting 2008, p.10)

- Mentoring is provided by the Victorian Trade Advisory Group (VTAG). If an apprentice is at risk of leaving the industry, a representative from the Victorian Trade Advisory Group provides counselling. This involves finding out why an apprentice is not performing on or off the job.
- Apprentice wages are generous by comparison with other trades. First year apprentice wages are set at 50% of the trade rate (vs 36% for plumber and 35% for carpenters). As a second-year fire protection apprentice explained, 'I am given a car and a phone and am earning more than \$60K a year' (Jane Clancy Consulting, p.11).
- Working conditions are good, and the industry is dominated by a small group of larger employers. There is the potential to stay in the career for life, as employees can work as installers while young and fit and then take on service and testing roles as they become older. This is in contrast to other trades such as bricklaying, where there is no readily available option down the track that is less physically demanding.
- Demand outstrips supply, and there is currently a waiting list of apprentices for first year training
 places. The training is delivered in a competency-based format. Students can achieve the
 simulated work tasks at their own pace. The course is tightly structured and incorporates rigorous
 assessment. Students must pass an exam at the end of the third year to obtain their registration.

Case study 2: West Orange Motors

West Orange Motors, a motor dealer in New South Wales, has achieved a completion rate of 84% over a ten-year period. Key features of the business's approach to apprentices include:

- very strict recruitment practices, which comprise three interviews, including one at which the apprentice's parents are present
- a formal roster system to rotate apprentices through different sections of the business, combined with monthly assessments and six-monthly reviews of progress
- a mentor, who is typically a newly qualified tradesperson, for each apprentice

- formal induction processes
- an internal apprenticeships awards scheme, which recognises outstanding apprentices.

Another factor that might explain the high completion rate is that the company has approximately 30 apprentices employed at one time, noting that Karmel and Roberts (2012) found that businesses with more than 25 apprentices had higher completion rates than those with fewer than 25 apprentices.

Case study 3: Fairbrother Group

The Fairbrother Group, a Tasmanian building and construction company, has implemented an 'Apprentice Mentor Program', which has achieved an apprentice completion rate of 98% (Jones & Muthaya 2011). As part of the program, regular coaching and mentoring are provided for all apprentices. Mentors are responsible for making sure that apprentices receive adequate training and supervision and are regularly rotated and experience a variety of tasks, and for regularly 'checking in' with the apprentice to see how they are going.

Another feature is that the company provides training for its supervisors — all apprentice mentors undertake the 'Supervisor and Mentor Skills Training Program', delivered by the OzHelp Tasmania Foundation. Finally, free counselling for all of the Fairbrother Group's apprentices is available from the OzHelp Tasmania Foundation.

Funding information

This work has been produced by NCVER under the National Vocational Education and Training Research (NVETR) Program, which is coordinated and managed by NCVER on behalf of the Australian Government and state and territory governments. Funding is provided through the Department of Industry (formerly the Department of Industry, Innovation, Climate Change, Science, Research and Tertiary Education).

The NVETR Program aims to improve policy and practice in the VET sector. The research effort itself is collaborative and requires strong relationships with the research community in Australia's universities and beyond. NCVER may also involve various stakeholders, including state and territory governments, industry and practitioners, to inform the commissioned research and use a variety of mechanisms such as project roundtables and forums.

In addition to the commissioned research, each year a pool of NVETR funds is set aside to support the provision of research and policy advice to assist with the Council of Australian Governments' reform agenda. This work has been produced as part of this initiative.

For further information about the program go to the NCVER website http://www.ncver.edu.au.



National Centre for Vocational Education Research LtdLevel 11, 33 King William Street, Adelaide, South AustraliaPO Box 8288, Station Arcade, SA 5000 AustraliaTelephone +61 8 8230 8400Facsimile +61 8 8212 3436Web www.ncver.edu.auEmail ncver@ncver.edu.au